IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal, which is contained in one volume will be referred to by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number. Accompanying this brief is an Appendix which will be referred to by the symbol "R".

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent, on August 31, 1983, was indicted for murder in the first degree. (R-5).

On March 26, 1984, pursuant to plea negotiations, he pled guilty, as charged, in exchange for a life sentence. (R-15). He was adjudicated guilty and sentenced to life imprisonment.

Subsequently, on June 28, 1985 he filed a motion to vacate his judgment and sentence. (R-7). His motion was predicated on the contention that:

(1) His plea was not knowingly and intelligently entered because he did not know, at the time he entered his plea, he would have to serve a minimum of 25 years before being eligible for parol, and that neither the court nor his lawyer so advised him. (R-7-10).

(2) His lawyer rendered ineffective representation because he failed to advise Respondent that he had to serve 25 years before being eligible for parol. (R-7-10). His motion did not allege he would not have so pled if he had

known he had to serve a 25 year minimum before becoming eligible for parol, (R-7-10), although he did so testify at the evidentiary hearing. (R-92).

A hearing was held on said motion. (R-46-120). The trial judge denied the motion, reasoning that, while a defendant must be advised of the maximum and minimum sentence, he need not be advised as to his parol eligibility.

On appeal the lower court held the plea to be voluntary as to the life sentence, but that since appellant had not been advised that he had to serve 25 years before being eligible for parol he didn't have to. (A-1-5).

The state filed a petition for rehearing pointing out that the lower court's decision results in an illegal sentence, citing Fla. Stat. 775.082(1) and Buford v. State, 403 So.2d 943 (Fla. 1981). (A-8).

On rehearing the lower court declined to hold the sentence it had imposed by virtue of its opinion illegal, but certified the following question to this court:

WHETHER UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES
OUTLINED IN OUR OPINION: (1) THE
DEFENDANT'S PLEA MAY BE CONSIDERED
VOLUNTARY AND HIS SENTENCE INTER-
PRETED TO BE A LIFE SENTENCE TO
WHICH SECTION 775.082(1) HAS NO
APPLICABILITY; OR (2) THE DEFEN-
DANT'S SENTENCE IS SUBJECT TO
THE MANDATORY REQUIREMENTS OF
SECTION 775.082(1); OR (3) THE DE-
FENDANT'S PLEA MUST BE SET ASIDE
AS INVOLUNTARY?

(A-7)

Timely Notice of Invoking Discretionary Jurisdiction in this Court was filed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The plea colloquy discloses that the plea was entered as part of a plea bargain wherein Respondent was to receive a sentence of life imprisonment. (R-15). During the colloquy the court went through the litany of trial rights that Respondent would have and ascertained that Respondent had discussed the consequences of the plea with his attorney. (R-19).

The plea colloquy fails to disclose that Respondent was advised that he would have to serve 25 years before he would be eligible for parole.

At the evidentiary hearing, Respondent's counsel testified that he could not recall discussing with Respondent the fact that appellant had to serve a minimum mandatory sentence. (R-54-55).

On cross examination counsel clarified that he was not saying Respondent was not advised by him only that he had no recollection of having advised him. (R-64-65).

Counsel's associate also testified that he had no independent recollection of any mention of a mandatory sentence, (R-78), except to discuss the options between pleading to a life sentence and a possible death sentence.

(R-77-78). He did not recall any discussions as to parol or parol eligibility. (R-79-80).

Respondent testified he was not advised by counsel as to any minimum period of time he would have to serve before he would be eligible for parol. (R-83-84).

He also testified he would not have pled guilty if he had known he would not be eligible for parol for 25 years. (R-92).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Where a defendant either pleads guilty to or is convicted of a capital offense the imposition of a life sentence without being eligible for parol for 25 years is mandatory. A sentencing judge is without authority to excuse this 25 year requirement. Consequently, assuming a plea to a capital offense is voluntarily and intelligently entered, failure to advise a defendant as to the parol eligibility requirement cannot be considered as excusing that requirement. Either the plea is involuntary because the defendant has not been so advised or, if, in spite of the failure to advise, the plea is deemed voluntary, the 25 year eligibility requirement cannot be excused.

Constitutionally, a plea of guilty is not rendered infirm because of failure to advise as to parole eligibility requirements as these are not considered direct consequences of a plea. If this court holds such a plea infirm it would have to be predicated on state law. State law does not require that such a plea be declared infirm.

ARGUMENT

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES OUTLINED IN OUR OPINION: (1) THE DEFENDANT'S PLEA MAY BE CONSIDERED VOLUNTARY AND HIS SENTENCE INTERPRETED TO BE A LIFE SENTENCE TO WHICH SECTION 775.082(1) HAS NO APPLICABILITY; OR (2) THE DEFENDANT'S SENTENCE IS SUBJECT TO THE MANDATORY REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 775.082(1); OR (3) THE DEFENDANT'S PLEA MUST BE SET ASIDE AS INVOLUNTARY?

The question presented raised three issues. The first two will be argued together.

The Defendant's Sentence May Not Be Interpreted To Be A Life Sentence Without The Applicability Of Fla. Stat. 775.082(1)

The Defendant's Sentence Is Subject To The Mandatory Requirement Of Fla. Stat 775.082(1)

In a novel approach the lower court found the plea to first degree murder to have been voluntarily and intelligently entered, but not with respect to the 25 year minimum before becoming eligible for parol as required by Fla. Stat 775.082(1). (A-1-7). On rehearing, Petitioner pointed out that the decision essentially imposed an illegal sentence. (A-8). The lower court recognized the paradox, but continued to insist that Fla. Stat. 775.082(1) was inapplicable to Respondent. (A-6-7).

As Petitioner understands the lower court's decision, Respondent does not have to serve 25 years before becoming eligible for parol because the plea agreement was silent as to this aspect of the sentence and because neither the trial judge nor Respondent's lawyer mentioned this eligibility requirement to Respondent.

In other words, reasons the lower court, the plea was voluntary. It was also intelligently entered, but only in part. As to that part that it was not, the sentence did not apply.

This novel approach, we submit, if sustained, will create a windfall for defendants in cases where there may be a misunderstanding as to any aspect of a plea.

Consider, for instance, the following scenario. A defendant is charged with first degree murder. His counsel tells him that if he pleads guilty he will have to serve

only six months. During the plea colloquy the court is informed that the defendant will plead guilty provided he is not subjected to a death sentence. The court advises the defendant that the maximum sentence is death and the minimum is life, but that pursuant to the plea agreement it will sentence the defendant to life. However, since the court is not aware of what counsel told the defendant, the court does not, in the record, negate the defendant's understanding that in spite of the life sentence he will only have to serve six months. If one accepts the reasoning of the lower court in the instant case the plea, under the scenario advanced, would be voluntary, but the defendant would only have to serve six months of his life sentence. His misunderstanding results in a windfall to him.

In an apparently subconscious recognition that its novel approach would not survive logical analysis, the lower court sought to fortify its opinion by saying:

"Moreover, the state made no challenge to the sentence as entered and no direct appeal ensued from the conviction."

(A-5)

With deference, we submit this statement cannot withstand scrutiny. Why should the state object, at the trial level, to the defendant not having to serve 25 years before

become eligible for parole when the first time that it was so suggested was in the challenged decision of the court below? When Respondent pled guilty, the law, as enunciated by this court, was that a life sentence with the 25 year requirement was automatic.

In Buford v. State, 403 So.2d 943 (Fla. 1981), this court set aside a death sentence for sexual battery because it violated the Eighth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States. Nevertheless, it did not remand the cause to the trial court for re-sentencing on the sexual battery because the sexual battery was a capital offense. This Court said:

The sentence of death imposed for conviction of sexual assault is vacated. Section 775.082(1), Florida Statutes, mandates a punishment of life imprisonment with a requirement that defendant serve no less than twenty-five years before becoming eligible for parole. This is an automatic sentence, and the Court has no discretion.

Text 954
(emphasis supplied)

This court may ultimately hold that a plea is not intelligently entered where a defendant is not advised as to the 25 year eligibility requirement. But, that is a far cry from saying that, if the plea colloquy is silent as to that requirement, the defendant is not bound to it unless the state objects and appeals the error occurring as a result of that silence. In Robinson v. State, 373 So.2d

898 (Fla. 1979) this Court emphasized that after a plea of guilty a party may appeal only identifiable errors. If the 25 year requirement is automatic, then how can the judge be considered to have erred by not making it part of his sentence? How does the state identify this error on appeal? It was only after Respondent filed his motion for post conviction relief that any error, if there is one, could be identified, and then only by him.

Either the decision of the lower court in the instant case is wrong or the decision of this court in Buford is.

If Buford is correct, then the sentencing Judge, would have been powerless to expressly excuse the 25 year requirement even if he wanted to. The lower court's decision creates an anomaly because it allows a judge, through silence, to do what he could not do expressly.

We recognize that there are cases holding that a defendant may be entitled to the specific performance of a plea bargain, Bishop v. State, 403 So.2d 1062 (Fla. 2 DCA 1981), Damm v. State, 402 So.2d 52 (Fla. 3 DCA 1981), but those cases involve situations where there is a specific agreement, not as here, where the record is silent as to that aspect of the agreement. The general rule continues to be that a defendant is not entitled to the specific performance of a plea agreement. The remedy is for the court to give the defendant the opportunity to withdraw his plea. Davis v. State, 308 So.2d 27 (Fla. 1975),

Reynolds v. State, 339 So.2d 714 (Fla. 2 DCA 1976). Even assuming that there had been an express agreement that Respondent did not have to serve the 25 year minimum eligibility sentence, Respondent would not be entitled to specific performance but only to an opportunity to withdraw his plea.

Consequently, should this court determine that failure to advise as to the 25 year eligibility requirement was fatal to the voluntariness of the plea, the proper remedy is to allow Respondent the opportunity to withdraw his plea, not excuse the requirement.

The Defendant's Plea was Voluntarily and Intelligently Entered

The test for determining the validity of a guilty plea is whether the plea represents a voluntary and intelligent choice among alternative courses of action. North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 31, 27 L.Ed 2d 162, 191 S.Ct 160, (1970), Hill v. Lockhart, 88 L.Ed 2d 203, 208 (1985) Williams v. State, 316 So.2d 267, 271 (Fla. 1975).

This, of course, means that a defendant need not be aware of all the consequences of his plea, only those that are a direct consequence of that plea.

The details of parol eligibility are considered by federal courts to be collateral and not the direct consequences of a plea of guiltity. Hill v. Lockhart, 88 L.Ed 2d 203 (1985),

Owens v. Wainwright, 698 F.2d 1111 (11th Cir 1983), Cepulonis v. Ponte, 699 F.2d 573 (1st Cir 1983), Hunter v. Fogg, 616 F.2d 55 (2nd Cir 1980), Smith v. United States, 324 F.2d 436 (D.C. Cir 1963), Trujillo v. United States, 377 F.2d 266 (5th Cir 1967).

In Hill v. Lockhart the defendant contended that his attorney had provided ineffective assistance because he misinformed the defendant that he would be eligible for parol after serving one-third of his prison sentence when, in fact, the defendant had to serve one-half of his sentence because he was a second offender. In rejecting the ineffectiveness claim the High Court said:

Here petitioner does not contend that his plea was "involuntary" or "unintelligent" simply because the State through its officials failed to supply him with information about his parole eligibility date. We have never held that the United States Constitution requires the State to furnish a defendant with information about parole eligibility in order for the defendant's plea of guilty to be voluntary, and indeed such a constitutional requirement would be inconsistent with the current rules of procedure governing the entry of guilty pleas in the federal courts. See Fed Rule Crim Proc 11(c); Advisory Committee's Notes on 1974 Amendment to Fed Rule Crim Proc 11, 18 USC App, p 22 [USCS Court Rules, Fed Rules of Crim Proc, Rule 11(c) Note] (federal courts generally are not required to inform defendant about parole eligibility before accepting guilty plea). Instead, petitioner relies

entirely on the claim that his plea was "involuntary" as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel because his attorney supplied him with information about parole eligibility that was erroneous.

Id 88 L.Ed 2d at 208

Subsequently in Travis v. Lockhart, 787 F.2d 409, 410 (8th Cir 1986) the Eighth Circuit cited Hill for the proposition that:

(Constitution does not require that state furnish defendant with information about parole eligibility in order for defendant's plea of guilty to be voluntary).

The reasoning espoused by the federal courts is that

". . . eligibility for parole is not a "consequence" of a plea of guilty, but a matter of legislative grace. It is equally true that non-eligibility for parole is not a "consequence" of a plea of guilty in §4705(a) cases, even under the judicial expansion of Criminal Rule 11; rather, it is a consequence of the withholding of legislative grace."

Smith v. United States, 324 F.2d 436 (D.C. Cir 1963) at 441

The State of Oregon was presented with the identical question presented here. In Jones v. Cupp, 490 P. 2d 1038 (Or. App 1971) the defendant had pled guilty to second degree murder. A post conviction court found that Jones had not been advised either by his attorney or the court that he

would not be eligible for parole until he served a minimum sentence of 7 years. Reasoning that "[i]t is necessary to draw the line as to what must be told the defendant as the 'basic legal consequences' of his plea of guilty" id 1040, the court said:

We think the proper place to draw the line for which the court is responsible to a defendant on the advice of the basic consequences of his plea is with the information as to the maximum sentence which may be imposed. See also Sali v. Warden, Nev., 482 P.2d 287 (1971) and Stocks v. Warden, 86 Nev. 758, 476 P.2d 469 (1970). We note that in the federal cases holding that parole ineligibility is not "a 'consequence' of a plea of guilty" (Smith, Trujillo, Onick) writs of certiorari have been uniformly denied. This tends to support our conclusion that pleading guilty without being informed as to parole ineligibility raises no constitutional issues.

Id at 1040

Consequently, if this court holds that Respondent's plea is infirm because he was not advised that he would not be eligible for parole for 25 years it would have to be based on state rather than federal constitutional law.

The lower court relied, in part at least, on Fla. R. Crim P. 3.172(i) which requires a court to advise as to the mandatory minimum and maximum penalties provided by law and this court's decision in State v. Green, 421 So.2d 508 (Fla. 1982).

Green is distinguishable. In the first place Green was decided by this court before Hill v. Lockhart. Consequently, to the extent that Green is based on federal constitutional principles, as it may be applicable to parole eligibility requirements, it is not controlling.

To the extent that Green may be considered to be predicated on Florida law it is unavailing. In Green this court held that where a trial judge intends to retain jurisdiction over the sentence, pursuant to Fla. Stat 947.16(4), he must advise the defendant of this fact prior to accepting the plea. This court held that retention of jurisdiction was a direct consequence of the plea. The distinction is, of course, that parole eligibility is a matter of legislative grace whereas retention of jurisdiction by a court, in order to allow that court to overrule any parole, is a matter of judicial grace. It is not only a matter of judicial grace but one which is a direct consequence of the plea. It is a direct consequence of the plea because the order retaining jurisdiction to overrule parole could not be entered without that plea.

Rule 3.172(i) does require a court to advise as to the maximum and minimum penalties. But, the maximum penalty imposed for first degree murder is death. The minimum is life. The lower court considered the ineligibility for parole requirement of Fla. Stat 775.082(1) to be the functional

equivalent of a 25 year minimum mandatory sentence. (A-4 footnote 1). At first glance this has some plausibility. But, if one accepts the reasoning of the federal courts it is not the functional equivalent. It is not because, while the legislature may not reduce the sentence imposed by a court in any given case, it may reduce or even abolish the parole eligibility requirement.^{1/}

That is why they hold that non-eligibility for parole is not a consequence of a plea, but a consequence of the withholding of legislative grace.

^{1/} It is only when the legislature increases parole eligibility requirements that there may be ex post facto problems.

CONCLUSION

Based on the above and foregoing reasons, arguments and authorities the decision of the lower court should be quashed. The plea should be declared to be voluntarily and intelligently entered and the 25 year minimum before becoming eligible for parol considered to be automatic.