IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Petitioner,
vs.
JAMES A. COBAN
Respondent.

FILED
SID J. WHITE
MAY 12 1987
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By _____
Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 70,278

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION
OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL,
STATE OF FLORIDA, SECOND DISTRICT

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

FLORIDA INSTITUTIONAL LEGAL
SERVICES, INC.

THOMAS M. JAWORSKI
Attorney for Appellee
2614 Southwest 34th Street
Gainesville, Florida 32608
(904) 377-4212

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner will be referred to as the State.

Respondent will be referred to by his given name, James A.
Coban.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Coban accepts the State's Statement of the Case.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. Coban accepts the State's Statement of the Facts, and would add the following additional facts. Mr. Coban was not made aware by trial counsel or the court, that by pleading guilty to first degree murder, his sentence would automatically contain a provision making him ineligible for parole consideration for twenty-five years. The first Mr. Coban heard of the mandatory twenty-five year requirement was when he reached the Reception and Medical Center (RMC) of the Florida Department of Corrections (DOC) (R 85). Immediately upon learning of the twenty-five year mandatory sentence, Mr. Coban wrote to his trial attorney, the clerk of the Hillsborough County Circuit Court, and the Hillsborough County Public Defender's office in an attempt to find out if some mistake had been made regarding his sentence (R 85-91). Mr. Coban received a response from his trial attorney several months later which stated that Mr. Coban may have had some misunderstanding of the sentence (R 24).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Because Mr. Coban was never apprised, before he plead guilty, of the requirement that he serve twenty-five years before becoming eligible for parole consideration, Mr. Coban's guilty plea cannot be considered a voluntary and knowing plea, or a plea that was entered based upon the advice of effective assistance of trial counsel. Because the trial judge did not inform Mr. Coban of the mandatory twenty-five year requirement, Mr. Coban was denied the due process of law guaranteed to him by the United States and Florida Constitutions. Additionally, because Mr. Coban's trial attorney failed to inform him of this automatic and mandatory consequence attendant to his guilty plea, Mr. Coban was denied the effective assistance of counsel.

ARGUMENT

The Second District Court of Appeal's three part Certified Question can best be answered, Mr. Coban submits, by reviewing the role of the trial court and trial counsel in connection with a criminal defendant's decision to plead guilty to first degree murder. Of the three choices presented by the Certified Question, Mr. Coban suggests that the third choice, that the plea must be set aside as involuntary, is the only one supported by the record.

The first choice of the Certified Question, that §775.082(1) Fla. Stat. (1983) has no applicability, would result in Mr. Coban receiving an illegal sentence. This was the State's position in requesting a rehearing, which then resulted in the instant Certified Question. Mr. Coban is in agreement with the State that to give him a "natural life" sentence would be illegal. A person convicted of first degree murder can receive one of only two punishments, death or life with the requirement that twenty-five years are served before being eligible for parole consideration, §782.04(1)(a) Fla. Stat. (1983); §775.082(1) Fla. Stat. (1983). To impose a "natural life" sentence upon Mr. Coban would be imposing a sentence which has not be legislatively provided.

The second choice of the Certified Question requires resolution of a factual issue. If the mandatory portion of §775.082(1) Fla. Stat. (1983) is to be applied to Mr. Coban, then Mr. Coban's plea must be judicially determined to have been voluntarily entered. Mr. Coban submits that the legal consequence

of not being informed of the twenty-five year requirement is of such a nature that not being made aware of it before pleading guilty makes the plea involuntary, or given with the advice of effective assistance of counsel. If this Court upholds the factual finding that Mr. Coban was not made aware of this requirement, then his plea must be set aside based upon either or both of the reasons discussed infra in more detail; voluntariness of the plea and the effective assistance of counsel. In essence, these are the considerations involved with the third choice of the Certified Question.

I. Denial of Due Process; Involuntary Plea

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.172(c)(i) requires that a defendant, when pleading guilty, be made aware of, inter alia, ". . . the mandatory minimum penalty provided by law . . . ". Two court decisions which have interpreted this rule of criminal procedure have held that it imposes upon the trial court an affirmative duty to inform the criminal defendant of the mandatory twenty-five year requirement attendant to a guilty plea for the crime of first degree murder. In State v. Turner, 492 So.2d 487 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986), cause dismissed. 496 So.2d 14 (Fla. 1986), the defendant was charged with first degree murder, amongst other crimes. In exchange for the State not to seek the death penalty, Turner was to receive a life sentence. The Fifth District Court of Appeal denied Turner's request for post conviction relief because Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.172(c)(i) was not in

effect at the time Turner plead guilty. In effect at the time of Turner's plea was Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.170(j), which stated in part:

No plea of nolo contendere shall be accepted by a court without first determining, in open court, with means of recording the proceedings stenographically or by mechanical means, that the circumstances surrounding the plea reflect a full understanding of the significance of the plea and its voluntariness, and that there is a factual basis for the plea of guilty.

Thus, the Turner court held that:

. . . the trial judge met the requirements of the law and rules in force and effect at that time, and his determinations and actions are presumptively correct and should not be held in error ten years later based on changes in law and procedure occurring in the meantime.

Id. at 489.

Rule 3.170(j) was replaced by the current rule, Fla. R. Crim. P.3.172(c)(i), effective July 1, 1977, In Re: Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, 343 So.2d 1247 (Fla. 1977). The Fifth District Court of Appeal gave the new rule only prospective effect. Retroactivity, however, is not a consideration in Mr. Coban's case because his crime was committed in 1983, several years after Fla. R. Crim P. 3.172(c)(i) became effective. On this basis alone, Mr. Coban should be given an opportunity to withdraw his guilty plea.

In another similar case, Owens v. Wainwright, 698 F.2d 1111 (11th Cir. 1983), U.S. cert. denied, 464 U.S. 834, 104 S.Ct. 117 (1983), the Court of Appeals was faced with the same two claims

Mr. Coban raises; whether the guilty plea was voluntarily and knowingly entered, and also whether the plea was entered based on the advice of effective assistance of counsel. The Owens Court ruled against the defendant because it did not believe factually that Owens was given improper advice by his attorney. The testimony of Owens and his trial attorney at the evidentiary hearing apparently was in conflict. In dicta, the Owens court stated: ". . . a state trial judge need not inform the defendant of the requisite time of confinement prior to eligibility for parole." Id. at 1113.

Owens is, however, distinguishable from the case at bar on two grounds. First, unlike Owens, the record in the instant case does not show that Mr. Coban was made aware of the twenty-five year requirement, either by trial counsel or the trial court. Mr. Coban's trial attorney had no recollection whether he informed Mr. Coban of this matter or not (R 65). By way of distinction, the Owens court found Petitioner's testimony to be incredible, and placed some import on the fact that Owens waited nearly five years before raising his claim. Mr. Coban, on the other hand, promptly tried to contact his trial attorney as soon as he learned from his classification officer at RMC that he had a mandatory twenty-five year sentence (R 85-92). Additionally, the evidentiary hearing held on Mr. Coban's Rule 3.850 motion does not demonstrate any conflict in the testimony of Mr. Coban and his trial attorney, although it does indicate some uncertainties regarding what was specifically discussed between the two of

them. As with the waiver of any right, Mr. Coban submits that the waiver of a right cannot be presumed from silent record. Johnston v. Zerbst, 304 U. S. 458, 58 S.Ct. 1019 (1938).

The second distinction of the Owens case from Mr. Coban's is that the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure were amended before Mr. Coban's crime was committed. The amendments specifically required the trial court to inform criminal defendants of any mandatory minimum sentences which would be imposed. As discussed supra, the rationale of Turner, supra, would require that Mr. Coban be given the opportunity to withdraw his guilty plea because his crime was committed in 1983, approximately five years after the effective date of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.172(c)(i).

Thus far, Mr. Coban's argument has rested primarily on State grounds. There is, however, federal constitutional grounds that must be considered. Beginning with the seminal case of Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S.Ct. 1709 (1969), and Florida's counterpart Williams v. State, 316 So.2d 267 (Fla. 1975), a defendant's guilty plea must be voluntarily and intelligently made in order to be constitutionally valid. Williams set forth three essential requirements for taking a guilty plea:

- (1) the plea must be voluntary;
- (2) the defendant must understand the nature of the charge and the consequences of his plea; and
- (3) there must be a factual basis for the plea.

Id. at 271.

The crime charged in Mr. Coban's case is subject to the imposition of only two punishments, death by electrocution, or

imprisonment for life with the requirement of serving twenty-five years before being eligible for parole consideration, §775.082(1) (1983); §782.04(1), Fla. Stat. (1983).

Mr. Coban contends that this automatic and mandatory twenty-five year requirement is a direct consequence of his guilty plea, such that he must affirmatively be made aware of its application prior to entering his guilty plea. The State argues that such a consequence is too collateral to the plea that the defendant need not be informed of its existence. (State's Brief at pages 9-15). Mr. Coban has never suggested that the details of parole eligibility need be explained to him before pleading guilty, but under the facts of this case, because the ineligibility is for a significant period of time, twenty-five years, (and mandatory), that this consequence can only be construed as a direct consequence of the guilty plea.

The unavailability of parole for twenty-five years changes the character of a life sentence which otherwise is subject to earlier parole consideration. Mr. Coban maintains that under the limited circumstances of this case, due process should require that he be informed of the consequence that parole eligibility is impossible for twenty-five years.

Mr. Coban agrees that a criminal defendant need not be informed of every "but for" consequence of a guilty plea. However, as previously noted, there are only two punishments that a defendant is subjected to upon pleading guilty to first degree murder. To this end, some courts have held that a defendant needs

to be informed of only direct consequences, as opposed to collateral consequences, of a guilty plea. In Polk v. State, 405 So.2d 758 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981), the defendant complained that his plea was involuntary because he was not informed of the consequence that as a convicted felon he would not be able to own or possess a firearm. The Polk court refused to add this consequence to the list of consequences which a criminal defendant needs to be advised of prior to pleading guilty. Mr. Coban suggests that the consequence of being ineligible for parole consideration for twenty-five years is a consequence which can hardly be considered collateral.

In Blackshear v. State, 455 So.2d 555 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), the court distinguished direct consequences from collateral consequences, by stating: "whether the result represents a definite, immediate and largely automatic effect on the range of the defendant's punishment." A direct consequence is one that has a definite, immediate and automatic effect on the punishment. Applying this rationale to the instant case, the consequence of parole ineligibility for twenty-five years can only be considered a direct consequence of a guilty plea to first degree murder. The trial judge has no discretion in making a defendant ineligible for parole for twenty-five years. This consequence is statutorily required, §775.082(1), Fla. Stat. (1983).

In an analogous set of circumstances, this Court in Green v. State, 421 So.2d 508 (Fla. 1982), imposed a requirement upon trial judges to affirmatively inform a defendant that the court

would be retaining jurisdiction over a portion of the sentence imposed pursuant to §947.16, Fla. Stat. (1979). Mr. Coban submits that a similar requirement should be made of trial courts when a criminal defendant pleads guilty to §782.04(1), Fla. Stat. (1983), because the harsh impact the ineligibility of parole has upon a defendant's punishment.

In Green, supra, the defendant plead guilty to two felonies with the understanding that the maximum possible sentence would be two consecutive life terms. However, he was not informed by the trial judge that jurisdiction over the sentence would be retained pursuant to §947.16, Fla. Stat. (1979). In holding that the trial judge must inform the defendant of his intention to retain jurisdiction over part of his sentence, this Court stated:

Under the present parole system, even if sentenced to two life terms, Green would be eligible for parole in a significantly shorter period than the possible 47 years under the retention.

Id. at 509. Similarly, in the instant case, Mr. Coban plead guilty to one capital felony and was given a life term. Like Green, Mr. Coban was, and still is, ineligible for parole for a significant period of time. While not specifically imposed by the trial court, the twenty-five year parole ineligibility is statutorily mandated and its significance upon Mr. Coban's sentence is no less dramatic than in Green.

Mr. Coban does not maintain that there is a constitutional right to parole, Cochran, 476 So.2d 207 (Fla. 1985), but does

submit that a person otherwise eligible for parole should be made aware of grave consequences which affect its eligibility.

Under the facts of the instant case, it does not affirmatively appear that Mr. Coban was made aware that he would be ineligible for parole for twenty-five years prior to his entering his guilty plea (R 54-57).

Mr. Coban contends that the provision making him ineligible for parole for twenty-five years is the equivalent of a mandatory minimum sentence. As such, the trial judge must inform the defendant that he will be ineligible for parole consideration for the mandatory twenty-five year period. The State recognizes that the lower court considered the twenty-five year period of parole ineligibility to be the equivalent of a minimum mandatory twenty-five year sentence (States Brief at pages at 14-15). However, the State is apparently arguing that this "minimum mandatory twenty-five year sentence" is not governed by Fla. R. Crim P. 3.172(c)(i).

Florida courts have consistently held that the failure to inform a criminal defendant of the mandatory minimum 3-year sentence required by §775.087(2), Fla. Stat. (1983), invalidates a guilty plea. Absent an on-the-record showing that a defendant was advised of the 3-year mandatory minimum sentence, withdrawal of the guilty plea would be permitted. Unlike the record in State v. Wilson, 395 So.2d 520 (Fla. 1981), there is no affirmative showing that the Mr. Coban was advised of the minimum mandatory twenty five-year provision affecting his life sentence.

It seems anomalous to allow a defendant who is not informed of a 3-year mandatory minimum sentence to withdraw his plea on the one hand, when on the other hand, a defendant who is not informed of a twenty five-year mandatory minimum provision is not allowed to withdraw his plea. Under these limited circumstances, Mr. Coban submits that due process requires that he be informed of the significant consequences the twenty five-year parole provision has on his sentence, and because he was not so informed, that he be provided an opportunity to withdraw his plea.

It is also noteworthy that Fed. R. Crim. P. 11(c)(1) was amended in 1982 to specifically require the magistrate to inform the defendant of not only the mandatory minimum penalties and the maximum possible penalties provided by law, but also the effect of any special parole term which may be applicable.¹ USCS Rules

¹ Rule 11(c) provides: **Advice to Defendant.** Before accepting a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, the court must address the defendant personally in open court and inform him of, and determine that he understands, the following:

- (1) The nature of the charge to which the plea is offered, the mandatory minimum penalty provided by law, if any, and the maximum possible penalty provided by law, including the effect of any special parole term and, when applicable, that the court may also order the defendant to make restitution to any victim of the offense;

of Criminal Procedure, Rule 11, Notes of Advisory Committee states:

The purpose of the amendment is to draw more specific attention to the fact that advice concerning special parole terms is a necessary part of Rule 11 procedure.

Mr. Coban maintains that the "rules" regarding guilty pleas have become more formalistic, Williams, supra, almost to the point of contract negotiation. The State makes reference to "specific performance of a plea bargain," (State's brief at page 9), and cites the general rule that criminal defendants are not entitled to specific performance. In this light, however, the Rules of Criminal Procedure have advanced to the point of attempting to prevent surprises to all those concerned. The Notes of Advisory Committee, albeit in the Federal system, indicate this trend of fully informing criminal defendants of consequences which have an automatic, mandatory and significant impact upon their sentences. While Mr. Coban does not contend he is entitled to specific performance of his plea bargain (a life sentence without any impediments of parole consideration), he does urge this court to strictly enforce the already existing requirement of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.172(c)(i), and afford him the opportunity to withdraw his guilty plea. This is the only remedy possible under the circumstances, as the failure to inform Mr. Coban of the twenty-five year requirement infected not merely the sentence he received, but the voluntariness of the plea itself.

II. Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

The second ground for reversal of Mr. Coban's Judgment and Sentence is premised on the rendition of ineffective assistance of trial counsel.

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